
TOWN OF 

NEW LONDON, NEW HAMPSHIRE 
375 MAIN STREET • NEW LONDON, NH  03257 • WWW.NL-NH.COM 

 
 

 

          BOARD OF SELECTMEN 

MEETING MINUTES 

September 21, 200 

 

PRESENT: 

Larry Ballin, Chair 
Mark Kaplan, Selectman 
Tina Helm, Selectman 
Jessie Levine, Town Administrator 
 
ALSO PRESENT: 

Peter Stanley, Zoning Administrator 
David Seastrand, Chief of Police 
Linda Hardy, Town Clerk/Tax Collector 
Jessica Hardy, Intertown Record 
 
Chair Ballin called the meeting to order at 8:00 AM. 
 
Public Hearing on Proposed Fees:  Chair Ballin opened the public hearing on the proposed building 
permit fee adjustments.  He stated that the proposal has been before the Selectmen a couple of times 
before and it has been fine-tuned, and the final proposal is before them.  He read aloud the public notice 
that the hearing is being held pursuant to RSA 41:9-a, and asked Peter Stanley to summarize the changes. 
 
Peter Stanley said that not much is changing under these proposed fees. There is a proposed sign permit 
fee of $10, which compares to other towns that charge $25 to $50, although the towns immediately 
around us charge less or nothing at all.  In addition to that, we’ve added an after-the-fact sign permit fee 
of $100 as a disincentive to putting up signs without a permit.  There are usually repeated visits associated 
with after-the-fact permits that are not required for permits under the standard process.  The other two 
significant changes are: 1) increasing the cost of new construction for a new house, because that activity 
ends up having an inordinately large impact on us, is not typically an existing taxpayer, and we have to do 
many more inspections with new buildings; and 2) we have proposed a fee for after-the-fact permits for 
non-building permit fees of $100. 
 
Peter Stanley said that most other towns, in fact even the smaller towns around us, have a building 
inspector and some sort of building code and they handle their fees by having a lower base fee but 
charging a fee for every inspection.  In Hopkinton, for example, there are easily $300 in fees above the 
base fee.  When there are building inspectors, there are generally charges for electrical inspections, 
plumbing inspections, and others that add up quickly.  In Hanover, they have a $5.50 per $1000 cost of 
construction (up to $10 million in construction), which is a fairly significant fee given that very few 
improvements can be done for less than $100,000.  Around here, we do not look at the cost in relationship 
to our fees.  Peter Stanley stated that these are modest increases and not much compared to what we could 
be doing. 
 
Mr. Kaplan referred to the fees proposed for small and large wind-energy systems.  He asked if those 
projects are easily distinguished, and Peter Stanley said that yes, they are easily distinguished and he has a 
protocol for that.  He added that the wind energy systems also have to go through the state energy 



Board of Selectmen  September 21, 2009 
Meeting Minutes   Page 2 of 6 
 
process.  He said that there was a great clamor for small wind energy not too long ago, and now that it has 
been permitted, no one has come forward with a project.   
 
Ms. Helm asked Mr. Stanley to clarify his statement that other towns charge for electrical inspections and 
other services.  Mr. Stanley explained that if an addition were being put on a house that involved 
additional electrical services, lighting or boxes in the wall, then every element of that project would 
involve some sort of charge in the towns that have a building code and electrical code and/or plumbing 
code.   Chair Ballin said that in Hanover, there are multiple inspections for pouring concrete.  Peter 
Stanley said that in New London, he inspects to make sure the concrete is poured in the right place, and 
the Fire Department will inspect electrical and egress in commercial buildings for safety, but we have no 
local building code and no building inspector.  He added that local builders are supposed to follow state 
codes and property owners who are concerned can hire a third party to make inspections and confirm that 
the building is being built to code, but that is not a program the town offers. 
 
Mr. Kaplan said that the subject of having a building inspector has come up two to three times in the last 
10-12 years, and the answer has always been that there would be more expense for the property owner.  
The question remains as to whether it helps the property owner.  If an owner has a good contractor, he 
said, then all of the state codes are followed.  But every once in a while, someone hires a contractor who 
is not up to snuff and there are problems in the house, and those people complain to the town as if it is our 
fault for not having a building inspector.  Peter Stanley said that generally speaking, we have not had 
safety issues with homes because electrical work has to be done to code by a licensed electrician.  The 
towns around us that have building inspectors do not necessarily have better construction than we do; they 
just have a different methodology that they follow.  He repeated that if property owners are concerned 
that code is not being followed, they should hire someone to inspect the construction.  Our goal is to make 
sure that the building meets zoning requirements – height, setbacks, waterfront regulations, permitted uses 
– and that’s already a lot of time.   
 
There being no public and therefore no public comment, Mr. Kaplan moved to accept the proposed 
building permit fees as advertised and that they be effective October 1, 2009.  Seconded by Tina Helm 
and with no further discussion, the motion was approved 3-0.   
 
Chair Ballin closed the public hearing on building permit fees. 
 
Meeting Minutes: Mr. Kaplan moved to approve the minutes of August 22, 2009 Citizen’s Advisory 
Committee, seconded by Tina Helm.  Minutes approved 3-0.  With respect to the minutes of September 9, 
2009, Mr. Kaplan moved to approve and Tina Helm seconded.  Mr. Kaplan said that on page 1, the 
reference to the “former Crimi property” should be the “former Riggs property.”  Approved as amended 
3-0. 
 
Sunapee Area Watershed Committee:  Terry Dancy has asked to resign from SAWC and has suggested 
that Carol Foss of the Little Sunapee Protective Association be nominated as his replacement.  The 
Selectmen suggested that she be invited in to meet with the Selectmen briefly to talk about her 
background.  Ms. Levine will contact Ms. Foss. 
 
Old Business: 
 
Elkins Grant: Ms. Levine said that the grant application was filed and she thinks that our chances are 
fairly strong within the region.  The applicants that place first out of each of the nine regional planning 
commissions are likely to receive funding in the final approval process.  Chair Ballin asked Ms. Levine to 
send the final grant to the Elkins Subcommittee, and she said that she has already done so by e-mail and 
will place one in the mail to Bob MacMichael. 



Board of Selectmen  September 21, 2009 
Meeting Minutes   Page 3 of 6 
 
 
Safe Routes to School: Ms. Levine said that her letter to the State asking for reallocation & delayed 
project completion date has been approved.  She is now awaiting a proposal for engineering from Clough, 
Harbour & Associations for the Pleasant Street sidewalk. 
 
John Shea:  Ms. Levine stated that Executive Councilor John Shea will join the Selectmen on October 5 at 
9:00 AM to talk about Main Street.  Ms. Levine will talk to him by phone before that meeting to prepare 
him for the discussion. 
 
Public Hearing on Parking Ordinance:  At 8:30 AM, Chair Ballin opened the public hearing on the 
proposed parking ordinance pursuant to NH RSAs 31:39, 41:11, 41:11-a, 47:17 VII, VIII and XVII, and 
265:71.  The Selectmen were joined by Police Chief David Seastrand.  
 
Chair Ballin noted that this ordinance has been reviewed a couple of times by the Selectmen.  Chief 
Seastrand noted that there should be an amendment on page 5 of 6 to change “New London District 
Court” to “Court of Jurisdiction.”  He asked Chief Seastrand to review the ordinance and Chief Seastrand 
said that a lot of these ordinances are already in place and adopted by previous boards, but the rationale 
behind this action today was to put all of the parking ordinances into one comprehensive ordinance, and it 
is split up into different sections to make it easy to determine at a glance what the ordinance would be.   
 
Chief Seastrand said there are some changes to the ordinance already in place, and there are some 
additions, for example, no stopping/standing at Jake’s Market that goes all the way to the roundabout.   
 
Ms. Helm referred to an e-mail that she received from Tom Demille suggesting that the ordinance 
contained conflicts between sections 1-1, 1-3 and 1-8. 
 

Jessie, thanks so much for the heads up on parking changes. I 

can't appear at the Public Hearing Monday night but hope that you 

will bring the following comments to the attention of the 

Selectmen. There appears to be an internal inconsistency in the 

proposed Regulation. Section 1.1 creates a "No Parking At Any 

Time Zone" and lists the South side of Main Street from Williams 

Street to Hayes Road as being within such zone. This would 

include all the frontage of the Barn Playhouse and the adjoining 

Residence House and yet Section 1.3 entitled "No Parking Limited 

By Time" permits parking in front of the Playhouse for five 

minute periods. Also, if in fact all parking is prohibited from 

Williams to Hayes then ALL the Handicap Parking (5 spaces) in 

front of the Residence House and used by patrons coming to a show 

would be eliminated. I don't think this was the intended result 

as they are the only Handicap spaces available to Playhouse 

patrons and have been used as such for many, many years. We would 

appreciate the modification of the proposed Regulations to 

reflect the above comments. Thanks Tom DeMille, President, New 

London Barn Playhouse, Inc. 

 
Ms. Levine suggested changing Section 1-1 to insert the words “except as provided below in sections 1-3 
and 1-8” with respect to the south side of Main street from Williams Street to Hayes Road. 
 
There being no public present and therefore no comments from the public, Mr. Kaplan moved to approve 
the proposed parking ordinance as amended, effective immediately, seconded by Tina Helm and approved 
3-0. 
 



Board of Selectmen  September 21, 2009 
Meeting Minutes   Page 4 of 6 
 
Chair Ballin closed the public hearing. 
 
Mr. Kaplan asked about the sign on Seamans Road that had been changed by graffiti from 35 MPH to 85 
MPH.  Chief Seastrand said that he has notified the Public Works Department about the defaced sign.  
Chair Ballin asked about yesterday’s traffic patrol on Route 11, and Chief Seastrand said that it was not as 
successful as in the past.  The Police were stationed on Route 11 by Wellswood Road, and he noted that 
they saw higher speeds coming from Wilmot than from the Interstate headed toward the race track.  This 
could partly be because of the construction but also because frequent race attendees are familiar with the 
speed patrols.  In response to a question from the Selectmen, Chief Seastrand said that he has spoken with 
RD Edmunds a few times about their traffic control techniques.  Chair Ballin asked if there have been 
safety issues, and Chief Seastrand said that there have been and we have had officers there here and there 
to assist the flaggers.  He is concerned about the area around Rowell Hill Road.  Ms. Helm said that the 
flaggers are not as definitive as they should be and do not hold the signs correctly.  Chief Seastrand said 
that they have also been on their cell phones and he has spoken to them and their supervisors a few times. 
 
Tina Helm asked about the second sobriety check held on the Saturday night of Labor Day weekend.  
Chief Seastrand said that three people were arrested for DUI that night, with one arrest taking place near 
the interstate prior to opening the checkpoint. The checkpoint was held at Whipple Memorial Town Hall.  
The Police had wanted to be on Route 11 but the road was in poor condition.  The checkpoint started late 
because the state arrived late, so the operation started at about 9:30 PM.  He thought it continued to be a 
good educational exercise and that a number of impaired drivers were removed from the road.  He said 
that in the future he may have more enforcement DUI patrols assigned to a couple of officers on various 
weekends.    
 
Committee Meetings & Reports: 
 
Joint Board of Selectmen’s Meeting, September 10:  Chair Ballin reported that all towns except 
Springfield were represented at the KRSD Joint Board of Selectmen’s meeting, and Wilmot was there for 
part of the time.  Wilmot’s main issue of concern was the inspections by the Department of Labor and it 
was suggested to Mary Kay Huntoon to talk to state reps.  The attendees discussed budget and 
regionalization issues.  Mr. Kaplan said that he thought the regionalization issue is an important one and 
he thinks the towns are far more trusting of each other than they used to be, and there is a honest coming-
together and desire to work in close harmony with one another.  He is in favor of regional purchasing.  
Jessie Levine said that Richard Lee is working on pulling together a meeting of the area road agents and 
they will report back on that.  Tina Helm said that Peter Stanley did an excellent job of presenting the 
workforce housing overlay subject to the group, and she thought that was well received.  Chair Ballin 
concurred.   
 
The next Joint Board of Selectmen meeting will be on Thursday, November 5 at 6:00 PM in Newbury. 
 
ICMA Conference Report: Jessie Levine distributed a memo to the Board of Selectmen summarizing the 
2009 International City/County Management Association Annual Conference that she attended from 
September 12-15, 2009.   
 
Economic Development Committee:  Chair Ballin said that the EDC met on Friday and set up a schedule 
of people that the EDC wants to talk to, especially Bruce King and realtors, especially commercial 
realtors, and banks.  He is encouraged by the fact that Verizon Wireless has moved into the hole in the 
shopping center.  Knit New London went out of business and has been replaced by another retail 
business.  Chair Ballin said that the Stahlman building has been vacated by the Hospital and the Accumail 
building is vacant, so there is still work to be done. 
 



Board of Selectmen  September 21, 2009 
Meeting Minutes   Page 5 of 6 
 
Ledyard National Bank: Mr. Kaplan moved to accept the $25 gift from Ledyard Bank for trees, seconded 
by Tina Helm and approved 3-0. 
 
Citizen’s Advisory Committee: Chair Ballin noted that there is a CAC meeting on Saturday.  Mr. Kaplan 
suggested bringing in someone from the community or a department head.  Chair Ballin suggested that 
Chad Denning come in, since he will already be in that day for the Bike Rodeo, to update on the summer 
at the beaches and his program moving forward.  He also suggested that we could discuss the change in 
the fiscal year proposal.  Ms. Levine will present the slideshow on the fiscal year change. 
 
Coalition Communities: There is a Coalition Communities meeting on October 9 at 10:00 AM at the 
Local Government Center.  Both Tina Helm and Mark Kaplan can attend.Chair Ballin will try to attend 
the meeting.   
 
Other Business:  Chair Ballin said that Governor Lynch declared last Tuesday, September 15 as Tomie 
DiPaola Day in celebration of his 75th birthday and had a gubernatorial proclamation sent to Tomie, and 
he was quite honored by that.  
 
Debit/Credit Cards:  Chair Ballin said that this discussion will continue a previous conversation with 
Linda Hardy regarding the use of debit & credit cards.  Ms. Hardy said that next Thursday, October 1, we 
will begin the single check payments for motor vehicles (rather than two separate checks).  Her office had 
to take this step prior to being able to accept credit and debit cards because we cannot accept cards on 
behalf of the state, so payment has to be made to the town to facilitate the use of credit and debit cards. 
 
Ms. Hardy said that when she was here the last time, she had mentioned the name of one company that 
she had investigated, and since that time, Harris Computers Systems, the parent company of Munismart 
Systems (our municipal software system) notified us that they have partnered with Nelnet.net to accept 
credit and debit cards.  This would integrate with our existing municipal software so that any posting is 
automatic to our cash receipting for the day.  She explained that now, her office has to post separate 
payments, and anything that we receive for motor vehicles is posted twice: once in the state system and 
once in our own software system.  Having this third party vendor (with a 2.95% convenience fee charged 
to the customer and no fees to the town) allows us to post directly into the computer system.   
 
Ms. Hardy said that the credit card payment system can be used for any transactions and can be set-up on-
line so that people can go to the town website and see the portal that will take the person directly to files 
that will allow them to pay property taxes without coming into the office.  This can also be done in the 
office, and should be more convenient to people who come into the office to register their cars and are not 
prepared to pay with a check.  Ms. Hardy said that there will be a form to complete that will show that the 
transaction will be billed by Nelnet.net and that there will be a 2.95% fee. 
 
Chair Ballin asked what happened to the other company that the Selectmen had previously discussed.  
Ms. Hardy said that the reason she suggested the new vendor is the integration with our existing software, 
whereas the other one would have required double-entry into our cash receipting software, and one of the 
recommendations that she is hoping will go over with the Budget Committee this year is to go back to 
vendor software for the automobile portion because it integrates with our cash receipting.  She explained 
that we currently do motor vehicle registration via the state on-line software, and then have to re-enter it 
into our cash receipting software, so there are two computer towers and two entries for every motor 
vehicle transaction.  Ms. Hardy also said that with the single payment method, she has to generate the 
motor vehicle notices in house, and the auto software will save that time as well.   
 
Ms. Hardy said that her office is trying to make improvements in steps, and the next step would be to get 
on board with the debit and credit cards.  There are a lot of requests for that service and it could be 



Board of Selectmen  September 21, 2009 
Meeting Minutes   Page 6 of 6 
 
accomplished fairly quickly.  Mr. Kaplan asked if this would apply to people who have to pay real estate 
tax, and Ms. Hardy confirmed that real estate payments could be done on-line or in the office with a 
charge of 2.95% to the user.  Ms. Hardy pointed out that the 2.95% interest payment is less than the 12% 
interest charge for non-payment of taxes.  She reminded the Selectmen that the transaction fee will be 
very clearly noticed and advertised.   
 
Chair Ballin said that the last time Ms. Hardy was here, Paygov seemed to be the only player at that 
moment, and now she has returned with the Harris Computers.  He asked if there are any more companies 
that we should investigate.  Ms. Levine noted that the Selectmen’s hesitation before has led to a better 
result, in that Ms. Hardy did more research and discussion with Harris Computers, and she thinks that is 
the best option given the integration with our existing computer system.  The Town of Newmarket is 
using this system and Ms. Hardy is considering a field trip to see how it works.  She is also doing a web 
conference this Friday sponsored by Nelnet that will show how everything integrates and how it would 
work in the office and on-line.  She, Joan Pankhurst, and Carol Fraley will participate in the workshop to 
see how it works. 
 
Chair Ballin said that at some point we have to have confidence that we hit the right target.  Mr. Kaplan 
moved to approve the proposal to use Harris Computers for credit and debit cards, seconded by Tina 
Helm and approved 3-0.  Ms. Hardy will prepare the proper documentation to sign. 
 
There being no further public business, the Selectmen moved to go into non-public session to discuss 
personnel evaluations, pursuant to RSA 91-A:3 II (a).  Motion Mr. Kaplan, seconded by Tina Helm and 
approved 3-0. 
 
Application for Building Permits: 

• Robert & Isa Rex, 11 Ridge Road (Map & Lot 122-005-000) build 3 season porch – Permit #09-091 – 
Approved. 

• Richard & Victoria Simek, 438 Brookside Drive, (Map & Lot 121-013-000) kitchen remodel – Permit 
#09-095 – Approved. 

• William & Nina Kozain, 55 Page Road (Map & Lot 117-021-000) modify barn & add garage door – 
Permit #09-096 – Approved. 

• Shirley Jean Dearborn, 524 Otterville Road (Map & Lot 042-003-000) artesian well & related erosion 
control – Permit #09-097 – Approved. 

• Rose Bernard, Doug Fraize, 149 Barrett Road (Map & Lot 084-050-000) standing seam roof – Permit 
#09-098 – Approved. 

• Mark & Cathy Owen, 108 Sugar House Road (Map & Lot 035-027-000) erect wood shed – Permit 
#09-099 – Approved. 

Application for use of Whipple Hall: 

• Adele Warner, OFF-OFF-Broadway – October 12, 14, 16, 19 & 21 (7-10 pm rehearsal) & October 23 
& 24 (5-10 PM) show – Approved. 

Application for use of Syd Crook Room: 

• Adventures in Learning – Julie Machen – November 18, 2009 10AM-12PM – Approved. 
Other: 

• Disbursement vouchers weeks of September 14 & 21, 2009 -   Approved. 

• 2 pole licenses (1 on Little Brook Road) (2 on Bog Road) – Approved. 

• Town of New London Parking Ordinances – Approved. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Jessie Levine, Town Administrator 


